Termination of pregnancy

A resource for health professionals

November 2005



The Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists

'Excellence in women's health'

This is a publication of the Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists (RANZCOG). Its preparation has been overseen by the Women's Health Committee, with the assistance of a working party comprising Fellows of RANZCOG and external contributors.

It may be revised as further information becomes available.

© The Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists (RANZCOG) 2005. All rights reserved. This material may be freely reproduced for educational and not for profit purposes. No reproduction by or for commercial organisations is permitted without the express written permission of the RANZCOG.

The Royal Australian and New Zealand
College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists
(RANZCOG)
College House
254-260 Albert Street
East Melbourne Vic 3002
Australia

- (t) +61394171699
- (f) + 61394190672
- (e) ranzcog@ranzcog.edu.au
- (w) www.ranzcog.edu.au

Contents

Summary	2
Introduction	5
General information about termination of pregnancy	7
Definition	7
Preparation for termination of pregnancy	7
Methods of termination of pregnancy	8
Surgical methods	8
Cervical priming	8
Suction curettage	9
Manual vacuum aspiration	14
Dilation and evacuation (D&E)	14
Medical methods	16
Mifepristone with prostaglandin in the first trimester	16
Prostaglandin alone in the first trimester	18
Methotrexate with prostaglandin in the first trimester	19
Medical abortion in the second trimester	20
Comparison of medical and surgical methods	21
First trimester	21
Second trimester	23
Choosing a method	23
Long-term risks associated with termination of pregnancy	25
Psychological effects	25
Reproductive outcomes	26
Breast cancer	27
Outcomes of complicated procedures	27
Conclusion	28
Additional resources	29
Guidelines	29
Local sources/resources	29
Legal issues	30
Policy and other issues	30
References	31

Summary

Termination of pregnancy is estimated to be the outcome of around one in four pregnancies. Around one in three women will have an abortion in their lifetime.

Supportive non-judgmental counselling should assist decision-making prior to termination of pregnancy; clinical assessment should be undertaken with arrangements made for follow-up and ongoing contraception.

The most appropriate method of termination depends on:

- the stage of the pregnancy
- the woman's particular circumstances, medical history and preference
- the experience, practice and clinical judgement of the practitioner
- the local availability of resources and infrastructure.

Methods of termination of pregnancy

Suction curettage

General

- surgical method used up to about 14 or 15 weeks gestation
- the most common method in Australia and New Zealand
- requires local or general anaesthesia
- cervical priming may be used beforehand
- failure rate 2-3 in 1,000, higher prior to 7 weeks

Side effects

mild pain and bleeding

Complications

- rates rise with gestation
- infection up to 10%, usually not serious; less with "screen and treat" policy or prophylactic antibiotics
- repeat curettage for bleeding or retained products of contraception around 1-2%
- cervical trauma < 10 in 1,000
- uterine perforation 1-4 in 1,000
- haemorrhage requiring transfusion 0.5-2 in 1,000
- maternal mortality <1 in 100,000

Manual vacuum aspiration

General

- surgical method used in first trimester especially prior to 7 weeks
- no information about use in Australia or New Zealand
- lower failure rate than suction curettage for very early terminations
- similar side effects and complication rates to suction curettage

Dilation & evacuation (D&E)

General

- surgical method used after about 14 or 15 weeks gestation
- cervical priming mandatory
- failure rates not reported, extremely rare

Side effects

 mild pain and bleeding, more prolonged than at earlier gestations

Complications

- similar to suction curettage but most rates rise with gestation
- cervical trauma 8-22 in 1,000
- uterine perforation 2-4 in 1,000
- haemorrhage requiring transfusion 2-4 in 1,000

Medical abortion

General

- no information about use in Australia; a minority of abortions in New Zealand
- evidence supports mifepristone plus misoprostol as the preferred regimen for medical abortion
- mifepristone is available in New Zealand but not Australia
- misoprostol is not approved for use in termination of pregnancy, but is registered for other indications and therefore available 'off-label' in both countries
- there is good evidence that medical regimens can be used throughout the first and second trimesters of pregnancy
- optimal dosage regimens for different gestations are still being developed
- women are usually aware of the passage of products of conception, which is accompanied by some pain
- a minority of women will require surgical evacuation of the uterus to complete the termination (around 5% for mifepristone and misoprostol regimens up to about 9 weeks gestation; higher proportions for other combinations)
- the interval between prostaglandin administration and abortion varies according to the regimen used, but is usually within a few hours for the mifepristone and misoprostol combination: the interval is longer for prostaglandin alone or with methotrexate.

Side effects

- bleeding is more prolonged than with suction curettage
- prostaglandin side effects may include diarrhoea, nausea, vomiting, dizziness, warm flushes, chills, headache

Complications

- haemorrhage requiring transfusion does occur but is probably no more frequent than with suction curettage
- pelvic infection is reported, but may be less frequent than with suction curettage
- uterine rupture has been reported with second trimester procedures: the frequency is probably <1 in 1,000
- uterine perforation and cervical trauma will not occur in the absence of surgical evacuation of the uterus

Other methods

Previously used extra- and intra- amniotic instillation methods of inducing abortion have been replaced by the methods described above for safety reasons.

Choice of method

With medical abortion, around 95% of women can avoid a surgical procedure, but several visits are required and bleeding and pain tend to last longer.

Surgical abortion is quicker and awareness can be avoided using general angesthesia.

The health outcomes appear to be similar, but many women have a strong preference for one or other approach.

Long term risks

Termination of pregnancy is possibly associated with increased risk of later miscarriage, preterm birth and placenta praevia. The evidence is strongest for preterm birth but overall is unclear and inconsistent: effects if confirmed are likely to be slight and similar to those following spontaneous miscarriage.

The evidence does not support an association between termination of pregnancy and infertility, ectopic pregnancy or breast cancer.

Psychological studies suggest:

- there is mainly improvement in psychological wellbeing in the short term after termination of pregnancy
- there are rarely immediate or lasting negative consequences
- there may be an association between termination of pregnancy and some adverse mental health markers: these may reflect preexisting conditions.

The Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists has stated that "abortion is safer than continuing a pregnancy to term and that complications are uncommon".¹

Introduction

Termination of pregnancy is a common procedure, estimated to be the outcome of around one in four pregnancies in Australia.²⁻⁴ The large majority of terminations occur in the first trimester of pregnancy.^{3,4} It is further estimated that around one third of all Australian women have at least one abortion.^{2,5}

There is no national monitoring of pregnancy terminations in Australia, so accurate national data are not available. Incomplete, indirect data have been derived from Health Insurance Commission statistics and public hospital data and, by extrapolation, from South Australia where monitoring does occur and which is assumed to be indicative of national practice. More recently, monitoring has been established in Western Australia. New Zealand's Abortion Supervisory Committee publishes an annual report including abortion statistics.

This document provides an overview of the methods that may be used to terminate a pregnancy prior to 20 weeks gestation and the associated risks. It does not provide guidelines or recommendations on best practice. The aim is to provide a referenced, evidence-based resource for health professionals to assist in decision-making and provision of

information in relation to uncomplicated requests for termination that might be encountered by a practitioner providing women's health care. It does not attempt to address exceptional or complex clinical needs: women in these circumstances need to consult a specialist practitioner. While the document discusses both medical and surgical methods, not all methods are available in all settings because of the differing expertise and infrastructure requirements involved, as well as availability of pharmacological agents.

The document is based on current evidence. The limited information on methods of termination of pregnancy in the Cochrane database has been referred to in the resource. The document has drawn on well-conducted recent reviews, including particularly those presented in the Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists (RCOG) Guideline. The detailed guidance and recommendations for practice published by the World Health Organization (WHO)10 and New Zealand's Abortion Supervisory Committee¹¹ were also consulted. No relevant guidance was found on the United Kingdom's National Institute for Health and Clinical Effectiveness (NICE) website.

Primary studies are referenced when found to be informative on issues discussed, including:

- large studies, often case series, which highlight areas of consistent, conflicting, variable or uncertain findings;
- recent studies reporting areas of developing knowledge and changing protocols;
- Australian and New Zealand studies where available, in order to reflect local conditions.

The reviews referred to provide a series of overviews of particular methods and aspects, with many referenced primary sources of potential use to readers interested in further exploring particular aspects.

The first section of the document provides general information about termination of pregnancy. The second section describes specific methods to terminate pregnancy and, for each method, the possible side-effects and associated risks. The third section summarises the evidence about long-term risks associated with termination of pregnancy.

The scope of the resource is limited: it does not include detail about the following important areas:

- epidemiology of abortion;
- health promotion and prevention of abortion;
- decision-making and counselling in relation to a decision about termination of pregnancy;
- reasons behind requests for pregnancy termination;
- legislation and legal aspects of abortion; or
- abortion after 20 weeks gestation.

Additional resources on some of these aspects are included at the end of the document.

General information about termination of pregnancy

Definition

'Termination of pregnancy', as used in this document, means deliberately ending a pregnancy so it does not progress to birth. The document focuses on termination of pregnancy prior to 20 weeks gestation and does not consider the issues or specific aspects of methods relevant after 20 weeks, although some included studies do report these. The vast majority of terminations are performed prior to 20 weeks gestation. The clinical circumstances after 20 weeks are diverse and complex, requiring specialist assessment, counselling and care.

Preparation for termination of pregnancy

Termination of pregnancy must be performed within the local legal framework: relevant law varies between Australian States and Territories and New Zealand. Practitioners need to be familiar with local conditions.

Not all women who consider termination of pregnancy will proceed to have a termination, and the process of decision-making needs to be supported by the health practitioner involved, with provision of accurate information and non-judgmental support and counselling.

Depending on the individual woman's clinical circumstances, needs and preferences, preparation for termination of pregnancy may then include:

Confirmation of pregnancy and gestational assessment by clinical history

and examination, pregnancy test and/or ultrasound examination:

- to avoid an unnecessary procedure if a woman is not pregnant or miscarriage has already occurred;
- to check for ectopic pregnancy; and
- to ensure selection of most appropriate procedure.

Some studies report routine ultrasound examination: although access to ultrasound is necessary it is not considered by the RCOG to be an essential prerequisite to abortion in all cases. It may be necessary to assess gestation more precisely if medical abortion is to be offered. 12

- General history and examination to assess medical risk.
- Blood group and Rhesus status
 - to identify Rhesus-negative women for administration of Anti-D, to prevent Rhesus immunisation and its sequelae in later pregnancies.
- Prophylactic antibiotics or testing for genital infection.
- Planning ongoing contraception following termination.

Consideration may be given to opportunistic and/or follow up health screening and advice, for example cervical cytology, rubella titre and smoking cessation advice.

A follow up appointment should be arranged and strongly encouraged, to include:

- assessment of physical recovery;
- discussion of ongoing contraception;
- consideration of emotional issues and arrangements for further review and counselling as necessary.

Methods of termination of pregnancy

A pregnancy may be terminated using a medical or a surgical approach, or a combination of the two. This section outlines the different methods, what a woman can expect to happen with each method, how well it works, and associated risks and side-effects.

Suction curettage is described first and in the most detail because it is the most frequently used method in Australia and New Zealand^{3,4,8,9} and there is the most information about its use over the last two to three decades.

Surgical methods

Most of the information about surgical abortion and its complications is reported in case series and cohort studies, some of which are very large. A Cochrane review found insufficient data to make recommendations based on randomised trials about surgical methods for early termination of pregnancy.¹³

Surgical termination may involve the prior use of drugs or other techniques to soften and dilate the cervix.

Cervical priming

Cervical priming may be used prior to curettage depending on gestation and other clinical features¹ and is routinely used prior to dilatation and evacuation.

Methods of cervical priming are:

- osmotic dilators (laminaria tents or hydrophilic dilators) placed into the cervix, where they absorb moisture and expand gradually to dilate the cervix. ¹⁴ This process may take several hours to a day or more and is more commonly used in second trimester terminations. Complications of osmotic dilators, including retained fragments and infection, have been recently reviewed. ¹⁵
- a pharmacological agent, usually a prostaglandin such as misoprostol or gemeprost; there is evidence that mifepristone can also be used for this purpose.¹⁶⁻¹⁸

Cervical preparation has been shown to increase baseline dilatation and reduce the force required to achieve adequate dilatation prior to curettage. 19,20 Randomised controlled trials suggest a reduction in intraoperative blood loss and surgeons subjectively assess the cervix as easier to dilate. 19-21 One large randomised study also found a significant reduction in duration of bleeding and in treatment for pelvic infection in prostaglandin pre-treated women, thought to be due to easier evacuation of the uterus after priming. 21

Cervical trauma has been found in a large retrospective cohort study to be less frequent when the cervix is prepared before dilatation, ^{22,23} with some evidence that uterine perforation may also be less frequent after cervical priming.

Numerous studies confirm that vaginal misoprostol is an effective cervical priming agent and most of these studies suggest vaginal administration is more effective than oral administration, although dosage and timing differences limit certainty about this. Overall, recent studies suggest that in the first trimester a dose of 400µg is adequate, that it may be given around 3 hours prior to the procedure and that oral, sublingual or vaginal administration may be used, subject to local logistic and other considerations, including patient location and admission arrangements, and patient and staff preference. 1,24-26

Because of the higher risk of cervical damage in younger women²³ and the greater risk of uterine perforation with increasing gestation especially in multiparous women,²² the RCOG recommends routine use of cervical priming in women less than 18 years of age and after 10 weeks gestation.¹ The World Health Organization recommends routine use after 12 weeks gestation and from 9 weeks in nullipara and under 18 year-olds.¹⁰ There is no evidence relating long term outcomes to the use of cervical priming.

The RCOG recommends $400\mu g$ misoprostol administered vaginally by the woman or a clinician 3 hours prior to first or second trimester surgical abortion.¹

Suction curettage

Suction curettage is a minor surgical procedure which is the main method used in Australia and New Zealand for terminations in the first three months of pregnancy.^{3,4,9}

The procedure

Cervical priming may or may not be used beforehand (see above).

Anaesthesia may be general or local, with or without oral or intravenous tranquilliser: the method will depend on availability at the particular clinic and the woman's choice.

The cervix is dilated using metal dilators to accommodate the selected suction curette, curettage is performed by applying controlled electrically powered suction to the curette and the uterine cavity may then be checked with tissue forceps and/or metal curettes. 16,27 Sharp curettage should not be used.

Oxytocic agents may be given intravenously to stimulate the uterus to contract and have been shown in small studies to reduce immediate blood loss, ^{28,29} although the effect on potentially life-threatening haemorrhage has not been assessed. RCOG makes no recommendation and WHO recommends against routine use of oxytocic agents with suction curettage. ¹⁰

Some authors report use of ultrasound to check completeness of the procedure either routinely or in selected cases. 16,30 RCOG does not support routine use. 1

The products of conception may be examined by the surgeon;^{16,30} the possibility of ectopic pregnancy or hydatidiform mole may be recognised at this time. RCOG considers routine histopathology to be unnecessary.¹

Effectiveness and failure

The procedure is highly effective, but failure does occur. One large US study (over 33,000 procedures) reported continuing pregnancy rates of around 2.3 in 1,000 women, with higher risk in women with one or more prior pregnancies, and terminations at earlier than 7 weeks, particularly when small cannulae were used.³¹ A more recent but smaller UK study reported similar ongoing pregnancy rates around 2.4 in 1,000.³²

Another study, reporting somewhat lower overall failure rates, found that the risk was reduced significantly if the products of conception were routinely examined at the time of the procedure.³³

The Kaunitz study calculated failure to terminate the pregnancy to be three times more likely using suction curettage before 7 weeks gestation, compared to 7 to 12 weeks gestation.³¹ Paul et al's study of 1132 women who had abortions prior to 7 weeks gestation³⁰ showed failure rates between 15 and 23 in 1,000. Over half of these procedures were manual vacuum aspirations, with around 40% having suction curettage. There was some indication that failure rates were higher in multigravidae. It is generally believed that failed termination of pregnancy will be more common where there is a uterine abnormality, but it may be that both are too rare for any association to be established.

Side effects

There may be some **pain** following a termination and some women require analgesia: oral analgesia is usually adequate and prophylactic analgesia is not indicated.¹

Bleeding is to be expected following the procedure. Duration of bleeding is seldom reported but some estimates are included in reports of comparative studies with medical abortion. Mean bleeding days after suction curettage are reported as 5.4 and 11.^{21,34,35} with similar durations, up to 18 days including spotting, following manual vacuum aspiration procedures.^{36,37} Serious blood loss or haemorrhage is rare (see complications).

Other side-effects, such as nausea, are likely to be related to prostaglandins if used in cervical priming and anaesthetic drugs.

Risks and complications

Serious complications are rare, with mortality and serious morbidity occurring less commonly than in pregnancy continued to term.¹

Mortality

In Australia three maternal deaths were reported in association with termination of pregnancy in the 1994-96 triennium³⁸ and none in the preceding nor subsequent triennia,^{39,40} suggesting a maternal mortality rate less than 1 in 100,000. There were no recorded maternal deaths associated with 244,149 abortions in New Zealand from 1980-2001.⁴¹ Grimes reported mortality associated with first trimester abortions in the US in the seventies as 1.6 in 100,000, increasing with gestation.⁴² US data report falling mortality rates from 4.1 in 100,000

in 1972 to 0.4 in 100,000 by 1987.⁴³ Mortality increased with gestation and by the end of the period the commonest cause was anaesthesia related, the other main causes of death being infection, haemorrhage and embolism. US rates were 0.3-0.8 in 100,000 during the 1990s.⁴⁴

Complications

Hakim-Elahi reported a very low total overall complication rate of 9 in 1,000 in 170,000 first trimester terminations performed in New York City during the 1970s and 80s, with hospital admission being required for 0.71 in 1,000.45 The complications included haemorrhage, suspected perforation, ectopic pregnancy, sepsis and incomplete abortion. Other large American series from the 1970s report serious complications at around this rate for example 7 in 1,000 for low risk women⁴² and 4 in 1,000 for women not having concurrent sterilisation,46 these series including second trimester terminations. A Canadian retrospective cohort study of over 80,000 procedures, of which 10-12% were second trimester terminations, reported that overall only 7 in 1,000 of women experienced immediate complications, with reported complications including haemorrhage (>500ml), cervical laceration, uterine perforation, retained products, infection and maternal death. 47

An Australian series found total complication rates including re-admissions of 14 in 1,000 up to 8 weeks gestation and 17 in 1,000 from 9-12 weeks in 11,000 procedures in the early 1980s.⁴⁸ Another Australian series focused on uterine perforation reported a major complication rate of 12 in 1,000 in the first trimester among 12,000 procedures.⁴⁹

A recent Danish study of over 50,000 procedures recorded in the Induced Abortion Registry reported a complication rate of 34 in 1,000 within two weeks of the procedure for vacuum aspiration, with most being bleeding, re-evacuation or infection, although this study excluded women without a subsequent pregnancy.⁵⁰

Within these low overall rates, the risk rises with operator inexperience and with gestational age, which also influences the method chosen.^{1,22,23,32,42,46,47,50}

Large studies estimate **uterine perforation to occur in 1-4 in 1,000 cases**, with lower rates in earlier pregnancies and procedures performed by experienced clinicians. 1,42,45,49-52 Some studies show an increase with increasing gestation, especially in multiparae. 22 An Australian retrospective study of nearly 14,000 women undergoing termination of pregnancy found a perforation rate of 0.5 in 1,000 in the first trimester (6 in 12,040 women). 49

Laparoscopy or laparotomy may be required to assess and/or repair damage.

There is some evidence from concurrent laparoscopy studies that unrecognised perforations occur, although the majority of these do not require treatment.⁵³

The rate of cervical trauma is estimated at no greater than 1%.1

It was substantially lower, 1 in 1,000, in the recent Danish Registry study⁵⁰ and reported even less frequently in the series of Hakim-Elahi et al.⁴⁵ It increases with increasing gestation and is higher in younger women and with inexperienced operators.^{22,23} Suturing may be required.

Most authors note the inconsistency of definition and reporting of haemorrhage,

with transfusion rates providing what is probably the most useful index of clinically important blood loss. Haemorrhage complicates around 1 in 1,000 abortions overall, with lower rates for early abortions (0.88 in 1,000 < 13weeks), although the degree of blood loss is not defined in these UK data. Rates of blood loss requiring transfusion are unknown, but estimated to occur in around 0.5 in 1,000 (including later terminations and methods other than suction curettage), 1 0.6 in 1,000⁴² or 2 in 1,000⁴⁶ procedures. Zhou reported heavy bleeding in 4.4 in 1,000 and bleeding requiring curettage in 10.1 in 1,000, the latter including curettage for retained products of conception.⁵⁰ These rates include first and second trimester terminations.

Symptomatic infection following the procedure may occur in up to 10% of untreated women but is usually not serious.¹ Others have reported lower rates for example around 5 in 1,000^{30,45} and 12 in 1,000.⁵⁰ Definitions and ascertainment tend to be inconsistent, but Grimes reported fever (>38C) after 7.5 in 1,000 suction curettage operations.⁴²

More serious infections may be related to unrecognised chlamydial infection or bacterial vaginosis. Wein et al reported 5% positive Chlamydia rates in an Australian series of women presenting for pregnancy termination.⁵⁴

Antibiotic prophylaxis⁵⁵ and/or screening for pre-existing infections and treating women with positive results decrease post abortion infection rates.¹ Sawaya's meta-analysis⁵⁵ found a relative risk of postabortal infection of 0.58 (95% confidence intervals 0.47-0.71) following antibiotic prophylaxis compared to placebo. Infection rates in

these studies ranged from 1-11% in the treated and 5-23% in the placebo groups. In the short term, infection may cause pain and discharge and necessitate antibiotic treatment and, occasionally, hospital admission. In the longer term, the risk is tubal damage, pain and infertility, although studies have not confirmed an association between prior abortion and secondary infertility. Penney et al found prophylaxis to be more cost-efficient than a screen and treat approach, with similar effectiveness in prevention of short-term infective morbidity. 56

In addition to treating women prior to the procedure, screening does allow for notification and treatment of partners if infection is identified, which has benefits in prevention of reinfection and infection of others by an untreated partner.

Retained products of conception

occur following fewer than 1% of procedures in some large cohorts^{42,45,52} with higher rates associated with greater gestation and inexperienced operators.³² The latter study reported an unusually high overall rate of incomplete terminations (requiring a further procedure) of 5.4%, while Zhou's series reported re-evacuation rates for bleeding and/or retained products of conception around 1.5%.⁵⁰

Retained products usually present with increased pain and/or bleeding which should be assessed clinically, with or without ultrasound examination.

Management options include conservative management, medical intervention (prostaglandins) or surgical evacuation of the uterus.

Ectopic, heterotopic and hydatidiform mole pregnancy are rare, but failure to diagnose them can be serious. Clinical assessment before abortion should take these possibilities into account, assessment of the products of conception at surgery will provide a further clue and they should be considered in the differential diagnosis of abnormal pain and bleeding after abortion.

Anaesthesia

Abortion may be performed under local or general anaesthesia. Most women experience some pain when local anaesthetic is used,⁵⁷ but this is usually well-tolerated.⁵⁸ There is less pain with general anaesthesia and some women prefer each method.⁵⁹ Techniques of local anaesthesia are described by Keder²⁷ and addressed by RCOG.¹

Complications related to anaesthesia

RCOG¹ and WHO¹⁰ state that abortion is safer under local than general anaesthesia: these safety conclusions are based largely on retrospective case series and comparisons, with one small randomised trial comparing intravenous analgesia and general anaesthesia for incomplete miscarriage,60 which is of uncertain relevance to elective surgical abortion. RCOG notes that women and clinicians may be unfamiliar with local anaesthesia and that some women prefer general anaesthesia. In some circumstances it may be preferable from the provider's perspective. Complication rates are very low with both approaches.

A 1977 randomised study of over 4,000 women in Ljubljana and Singapore found no differences in complication rates between women having local and general anaesthesia for first trimester abortion,

although the aspirate volume was significantly greater in the general groups.⁶¹

Among the retrospective studies, some suggest no difference between complication rates when local and general anaesthesia are compared⁴⁵ while others report differences. The infrequency of serious complications and lack of information as to reasons for selecting anaesthetic technique limits the conclusiveness of most reports.

Grimes reported a large series with similar rates of major complications in women having local and general angesthesia.62 Both were considered safe overall, but there was a different spectrum of complications in the two groups. Fever and convulsions were more common in the local anaesthesia group, with haemorrhage, uterine perforation, cervical injury and abdominal surgery more common in the general anaesthesia group. Mackay retrospectively reported over 4,000 second trimester procedures under general anaesthesia and 5,000 second trimester procedures with local anaesthesia.⁶³ They again found convulsions more common in the local anaesthesia group, no difference in cervical injury or perforation rates, but a higher risk of serious complications in the general anaesthesia group, including persistent fever, blood transfusion and abdominal surgery. Osborn et al found an increase in haemorrhage and in overall complication rate among women who had general anaesthesia for suction curettage.⁶⁴ In 1981, Peterson et al reported a higher risk of death for abortion performed under general than local anaesthesia, with both rates <1 in 100,000 after adjustment for pre-existing disease and concurrent sterilisation.65

Anaesthetic complications are uncommon but laryngeal spasm, aspiration pneumonia, anaphylactic shock, malignant hyperthermia, cardiac arrhythmias, thrombophlebitis and bruising at the intravenous access site may occur. Risks are increased in the presence of obesity, smoking, diabetes and other chronic illnesses. Given that suction curettage generally takes less than 15 minutes the risk of anaesthetic complications can be expected to be lower than for more complex procedures.

Manual vacuum aspiration

Manual vacuum aspiration is a technique in which there is renewed interest in the USA and UK, particularly for surgical abortion prior to 7 weeks gestation.¹⁶

Uterine evacuation is achieved using a narrow cannula attached to a manual vacuum syringe, rather than the thicker cannulae and electric vacuum suction used in conventional suction curettage. In Paul et al's study of 1132 women undergoing abortion at less than seven weeks gestation at a range of sites,³⁰ manual aspiration had a lower rate of failed abortion (1.1%) than electric suction (2.9%), while a larger study of procedures at less than six weeks gestation in women accepting early follow up had a failure rate of only 0.13%.66 Results from two randomised trials comparing manual and electric vacuum aspiration suggest that the manual procedure is as acceptable to both patients and providers as the electric one, although it generally takes slightly longer. 58,67 A larger retrospective study suggests no differences in complication rates.68

Dilatation and evacuation (D&E)

D&E is used for terminations at more advanced gestation, usually after about 14 to 15 weeks, and this requires the cervix to be dilated more widely than for suction curettage.

The procedure

All studies report the use of some form of cervical priming prior to dilatation and evacuation at gestations of 14 weeks onwards and both WHO and RCOG recommend routine use of cervical priming at these gestations.^{1,10}

Local or general anaesthesia may be used. The cervix may be dilated manually (using dilators) if necessary. Products of conception are then removed, usually piecemeal, using forceps. Sometimes the fetus will be passed intact if sufficient cervical dilatation has occurred.

Oxytocic agents may be given (see suction curettage).

RCOG considers "D&E can be undertaken safely only by gynaecologists who have been trained in the technique, have the necessary instruments and have a caseload sufficient to maintain their skills".

Effectiveness

D&E will always terminate a pregnancy unless factors such as anatomical abnormality or anaesthetic complication prevent the procedure from being completed.

Side effects

These are similar to those described for suction curettage, although duration and amount of bleeding are thought to increase with increasing gestation.

Risks and complications

Risks associated with D&E are similar to those described for suction curettage (see above) although the rates may differ.

RCOG concludes that cervical injury is more common with second trimester D&E than earlier abortion and reports haemorrhage requiring transfusion in just under 4 in 1,000 cases after 20 weeks, compared with 0.88 in 1,000 prior to 13 weeks.¹

Pridmore and Chambers' Australian study found perforation rates of 0.5 in 1,000 in 12,040 first trimester terminations and 3.2 in 1,000 from 13-20 weeks gestation (1,827 cases). Eleven of 12 women with uterine perforations had had previous gynaecological surgery (mainly previous termination of pregnancy but also lower segment caesarean section and the large loop excision of transformation zone of the cervix procedure).

The Peterson et al series of over 11,000 D&Es⁶⁹ reported 9 in 1,000 bleeding over 500ml, with 4 in 1,000 requiring surgical treatment and 2/1000 being transfused. The cervical laceration rate was 8 in 1,000, higher after 18 weeks gestation. Febrile morbidity occurred with similar frequency, although few infections were considered serious. They did appear to increase in frequency with advancing gestation to 16 in 1,000 at 20-21 weeks.

Perforation occurred in 4 in 1,000, but was later reduced following increased use of cervical priming.

Several studies report increasing complication rates with increasing gestation, although in the older series fewer second trimester procedures were D&Es. 42,46,47

In contrast, one retrospective study from Canada suggests that D&E can be as safe between 15 and 20 weeks as suction curettage is before 15 weeks.⁷⁰ This applied for all complications, including more serious ones (which were rare for both methods). The rate for all complications (including infections and incomplete abortion) was 29 in 1,000 for women undergoing D&E, compared with 51 in 1,000 for suction curettage. There were two incomplete abortions, one uterine perforation, one haemorrhage requiring transfusion and one case of disseminated intravascular coagulation among 447 D&E cases (15-20 weeks gestation) for which follow-up was available.

Medical methods

A medical termination of pregnancy is one where drugs are used to induce abortion. Drugs used include prostaglandins, methotrexate and mifepristone, alone or in combination. Mifepristone is available in New Zealand but not Australia. 41,71,72 Misoprostol (a frequently used prostaglandin) and methotrexate are registered for other purposes in both Australia and New Zealand and therefore available for use 'off-label', subject to appropriate informed consent.

The drugs must be given, often in doses separated by two or more days, and the woman must then wait between a few hours and several days for abortion to occur when she will experience pain and bleeding. Other side effects are those of the drugs used. Specific contraindications to the drugs should be considered in planning medical termination and follow up is essential to ensure completeness of the procedure.

Published guidelines^{1,10,11} recommend the establishment of protocols which include:

- the provision of clear information to women about what to expect, the necessary follow up, how to recognise complications, and access to urgent care;
- provision of 24 hour telephone advice:
- arrangements for uterine evacuation when needed;
- arrangements for emergency care if required; and
- arrangements for ensuring appropriate follow-up.

Mifepristone with prostaglandin in the first trimester

Mifepristone is a synthetic antiprogesterone. It has been shown to be an effective abortifacient when combined with a prostaglandin administered 2 days later. It works by decreasing progesterone action, thus increasing decidual prostaglandin production, increasing myometrial sensitivity to prostaglandins and softening the cervix.⁷³ Prostaglandins stimulate uterine contractions and also soften the cervix.

Although early work with mifepristone and prostaglandin regimens focused on gestations initially up to 7 weeks and then up to 9 weeks, there is now good evidence that this combination may be used to induce abortion throughout the first and second trimesters. 1,74

The method

The most common regimens involve a single dose of mifepristone orally followed 48 hours later by a prostaglandin, usually misoprostol, given orally or vaginally and repeated doses of prostaglandin at intervals of around 4 hours if required. Up to 50% will have some bleeding and a few women (around 3%) will miscarry with mifepristone before the prostaglandin is administered. The majority will begin to bleed and pass products of conception within a few hours of prostaglandin administration. What is passed is checked for tissue, by staff if this occurs in a treatment facility, or by the woman if it occurs after discharge. The experience for the woman may be much like a spontaneous miscarriage, with some pain and bleeding to be expected. 11,74-76

Follow-up is important to check for completeness of abortion and the need for curettage, especially if no tissue is seen during the woman's admission. A proportion of women, usually around 5% or less, will require surgical evacuation of the uterus for incomplete abortion or continuing pregnancy (see effectiveness and failure below).

Regimens

RCOG considers 200mg mifepristone orally followed 1-3 days later by 800µg misoprostol vaginally to be the optimal method of early medical abortion up to 9 weeks gestation, based on considerations of efficacy, adverse-effect profile and cost.¹ Reportedly effective regimens for later medical termination involve up to 4 further doses of misoprostol at 3-6 hourly intervals.¹,35,77

200mg mifepristone in combination with prostaglandins has been shown to be as effective as 600mg.^{78,79} Fifty milligram doses are less effective,⁸⁰ but 100mg may be adequate.⁸¹ This finding remains to be confirmed.

RCOG reviewed the data relating to choice of prostaglandin and concluded that "misoprostol...is a cost-effective alternative for all abortion procedures for which...gemeprost is conventionally used".1

Misoprostol is more effective and better tolerated vaginally than orally, with fewer gastrointestinal side effects, although some women may prefer oral administration. Sublingual administration has also been reported and in some programs misoprostol is self-administered. Toxic doses have not been determined.^{74,75,79,82,83}

Effectiveness and failure

Mifepristone in combination with vaginal misoprostol as described by RCOG has been reported to be consistently effective in inducing complete abortion in over 95% of pregnancies up to 63 days gestation. Complete abortion rates of 94% have also been achieved in large case series at 9-13 weeks gestation. 1,77,84

Surgical intervention is undertaken in the remaining 5% or less for continuing viable pregnancy (a minority of cases) or more commonly incomplete or missed abortion. The frequency of surgical evacuation of the uterus is reported to decrease with increasing experience of the clinical team with the method.^{74,85}

A large study found that continuing pregnancy was significantly more likely where gestation was 7 to 9 weeks than at lower gestations and primigravid women were more likely to have a complete abortion than those with previous pregnancies.⁸⁶

Side effects

Pain and bleeding are to be expected, with cramping reported in around 90%, adequately managed with oral analgesia for most women. Mean and median days of bleeding are around 9-15, with ranges up to around 70 days. Other side effects may include diarrhoea (around 10-30%), vomiting (around 10-45%) and nausea (around 40-70%). Dizziness, headache, chills, shivering and fever are also reported. Side effects are dosedependent and greater with oral and sublingual than with vaginal misoprostol. Most women seem to find the side effects acceptable. 75,83,87-89

Risks and complications

Serious complications are rare, but mortality has been reported, including 3 fatal cases of toxic shock syndrome associated with clostridium sordelli.90 Haemorrhage requiring blood transfusion is reported, with overall rates probably around 1-2 in 1,000.83,85,89 Presumed pelvic or genital tract infection occurred in 2.7% of women in the Scottish series of over 4,000 women treated with mifespristone and misoprostol⁸⁶ and infection has been reported in other series.91 A review found an overall rate of infection following medical abortion (up to 26 weeks gestation) of 0.92% among over 46,000 cases.92

There have been a small number of reports of congenital defects in the infants of women who have taken misoprostol during the first trimester in an unsuccessful attempt to induce abortion and proceeded to birth. These include Mobius' syndrome (facial paralysis), and limb and other defects. A case-control study cautiously suggests a teratogenic effect of vascular disruption type.⁹³

As with other methods of termination, the possibility of ectopic, heterotopic or hydatidiform molar pregnancy should be taken into account when considering abnormal pain and/or bleeding before or after medical termination.

Prostaglandin alone in the first trimester

Synthetic prostaglandin E1 analogues, such as misoprostol and gemeprost, stimulate uterine contractions and also soften the cervix.

RCOG considers that "single agent regimens do not have a place in UK practice, where mifepristone is readily available". 1

There is limited new evidence about single agent regimens for early medical abortion from areas where mifepristone has become available, including UK and USA. The following summary is derived from several review articles, including a Cochrane review.^{79,82,83,85}

The method

Apart from the different dosage regimens, the method is similar to that described above for mifepristone and prostaglandin, but a higher proportion of women will require surgical evacuation of the uterus.

There is a variable time interval to abortion: it most commonly occurs within about 12 to 48 hours, but may take several days.

Regimens

There is no clear optimal regimen for termination of pregnancy with prostaglandin alone, although an American group has recently published a "consensus regimen".⁹⁴

Most studies report the use of vaginal misoprostol, but other prostaglandins have been used and a variety of dosage regimens have been reported, including oral and vaginal administration.

Effectiveness and failure

Prostaglandins used alone have been found to be less effective than other medical regimens in the first trimester.

Side effects

Side effects are similar to those for mifepristone and prostaglandins.

Misoprostol itself is likely to have more side effects when used as a sole agent than in combined regimens because most of its side effects are dose-dependent and higher doses are likely to be required.

Risks and complications

These can be expected to be similar to those for mifepristone and prostaglandin regimens.

Methotrexate with prostaglandin in the first trimester

Methotrexate is a folic acid antagonist registered for use in cancer treatment, and it is used 'off-label' for a range of obstetric and gynaecological indications, including treatment of ectopic pregnancy in order to avoid surgery and minimise damage to the Fallopian tube. Its use in termination of pregnancy relies on its ability to inhibit trophoblast growth and consequently progesterone levels, resulting in prostaglandin release and increase in uterine contractions.

For pregnancy termination it is generally used in conjunction with a prostaglandin E1 analogue, such as misoprostol.

RCOG considers "methotrexate regimens may have a place in those countries where mifepristone is unavailable". The summary below is derived from several review articles including a Cochrane review. 79,82,83,85,95

The method

Apart from the different dosage regimens, the method is similar to that described above for mifepristone and prostaglandin, but a higher proportion of women will require surgical evacuation of the uterus.

Regimens

Studies report the administration of methotrexate used intramuscularly or orally followed by misoprostol up to 7 days later.

Effectiveness and failure

Around 60 percent of women are reported to abort within 24 hours of the first misoprostol dose, but it may take 3-4 weeks to reach cumulative abortion rates close to 90%.

One randomised controlled trial was found comparing mifepristone and prostaglandin with methotrexate and prostaglandin: the overall success rates were comparable, but the mean time to expulsion was much longer with methotrexate.⁹⁶

Diminishing rates of complete abortion are reported beyond 7 weeks gestation.

Side effects

Pain and bleeding patterns are similar to those described for prostaglandins.

Other side-effects are also similar to those of other medical abortion regimens.

Risks and complications

In general these are similar to those described for prostaglandins although serious complications have been reported following use of methotrexate in treatment of ectopic pregnancy.

Methotrexate is a teratogen in high doses. There are case reports of fetal anomalies after failed medical abortion with methotrexate and misoprostol, although most women exposed to these agents are said to have normal outcomes.⁹⁷

Medical abortion in the second trimester

Mifepristone and misoprostol

RCOG reports mifepristone and misoprostol as an appropriate, safe and effective method for mid-trimester medical abortion, with shorter induction to abortion intervals than methods using prostaglandin alone or supplemented by oxytocin. It summarises many studies of regimens for second trimester medical abortion. A recent report substantially extends one of the larger series referred to in the guideline. 98

The RCOG guideline and the studies cited within it include several regimens for mifepristone followed by misoprostol (orally or vaginally). Sublingual administration of misoprostol has also been reported.^{1,99,100}

Mean or median induction to abortion intervals after first prostaglandin dose were reported as 6-7 hours, with around 10% requiring surgical evacuation of the uterus.¹ One large series found dosage and induction to abortion interval

significantly higher at gestations of 17-21 weeks than at 13-16 weeks, with the mean induction-abortion interval approaching 9 hours in the later gestation group. This study reported abortion in 97% of women within 24 hours of the first misoprostol dose.

Similar outcomes have been achieved with mifepristone/gemeprost combinations. Regimens and outcomes are included in the RCOG report.¹

Prostaglandin alone

There is now little data being produced from countries where mifepristone is available, but the following outcomes have been reported for prostaglandinonly regimens for second trimester medical abortion, including in Australian studies. 14,101-107

Reported abortion rates range from 60-85% by 24 hours and 75-100% by 48 hours for misoprostol in the mid-trimester while the mean or median time between the commencement of treatment and abortion ranges from around 14 hours to 24 hours, significantly longer with oral than with vaginal administration. Surgical evacuation rates range from 10-60%. Several studies have reported higher abortion rates and shorter inductionabortion intervals in cases involving fetal death than in those with a live fetus. Treatment protocols have varied considerably and there remains no agreed optimal dosage regimen for the use of misoprostol alone for termination of pregnancy in the second trimester.

Methotrexate and misoprostol

There is little reported on the effectiveness or safety of methotrexate plus prostaglandin regimens in the second trimester.

Risks and complications of midtrimester medical abortion

Adverse effects include fever, nausea, vomiting and diarrhoea as previously described for medical abortion, but more serious complications such as uterine rupture, haemorrhage requiring blood transfusion and cervical lacerations are uncommonly reported.¹⁴

There were nine blood transfusions, one hysterotomy, one "myometrial tear" and no other case of uterine rupture or cervical tear in the total of 2200 mid-trimester medical terminations with mifepristone and prostaglandin reported in four large recent series. 98,108-110 There were 13 transfusions among 817 mid-trimester terminations with a variety of prostaglandin-only regimens included in three recent reports. 102,104,111

RCOG notes that uterine rupture has been reported in association with mid-trimester medical abortion, but estimates the risk at well under 1 in 1,000. Most reports of uterine rupture associated with second trimester use of prostaglandins are of single cases after 20 weeks gestation, commonly with risk factors such as the presence of a uterine scar and often with prolonged and/or repeated courses of prostaglandins and/or oxytocin. In addition to the myometrial tear mentioned above, four case reports of uterine rupture prior to 20 weeks gestation were found: one of these occurred after only two doses of vaginal prostaglandin and another in the presence of a uterine abnormality. 112-115

Comparison of medical and surgical methods

There are few randomised trials comparing medical and surgical approaches for termination. A Cochrane review found that medical methods for abortion in early pregnancy can be safe and effective, with the most evidence of effectiveness for a combination of mifepristone and misoprostol. 116 However only six relatively small trials met the criteria of the review and inadequate evidence was found to comment on the acceptability and side effects of medical compared to surgical first-trimester abortions. The following findings are reported in reviews and the larger of the more recent case series and cohort studies in the literature.

First trimester

Failure rates of medical termination procedures generally refer to ongoing pregnancy plus incomplete abortion rates, together indicating the need for a surgical procedure. For surgical abortion procedures failure usually refers to ongoing pregnancy rates, with incomplete abortion and/or retained products of conception rates considered separately as complications. Reported effectiveness rates may therefore not be strictly comparable. The following information on side effects and outcomes is based on a combination of randomised, partly randomised and cohort studies.

Bleeding is heavier and/or more prolonged following medical termination,

but most studies do not report a clinically important lowering of haemoglobin levels.^{34-37,116-120}

These studies consistently found higher rates of other side effects for medical terminations, including nausea, vomiting, diarrhoea and need for analgesia. 34,35, 37,117-119,121 Rates of serious complications are not reported to differ.

Time for return to normal activities was similar. There is some evidence that infection rates may be lower following medical than surgical abortion: three studies have found higher rates of presentation to general practitioners and postoperative prescription of antibiotics following surgical abortion, 119,122,123 consistent with the very low infection rates following medical abortion reported in a recent review. 92

Elul et al noted a higher incidence of "side effects" following medical than surgical abortion, but observed that pain and bleeding could be regarded as symptoms of the intended effect of the treatment, namely miscarriage. Wellbeing was comparable in both groups and satisfaction was greater in the medical group in this study.

In general the comparative studies have found no differences in psychological outcomes related to treatment modality, while most have found improvement in psychological indicators after termination compared with before. 118-121,125-128 One recent study did find some differences in anxiety and self-esteem changes, although not morbidity, between women having medical and surgical abortion at 10-13 weeks gestation. 129 The authors believed

their findings supported the availability of medical abortion at these gestations, while emphasising the importance of good information in assisting women to make choices regarding termination method.

In summary, with medical as compared to surgical termination:

- drug side effects are more common (nausea, vomiting, diarrhoea, fever, chills, flushes);
- pain is more common and more prolonged, up to 90% experiencing cramps, which for most are moderate and acceptable, but greater than menstrual pain;
- bleeding is more prolonged, most reports suggesting an average around 14-17 days with ranges from 1-69, but actual fall in haemoglobin unknown;
- the timing of expulsion of the products of conception may not be clear;
- there is at least a theoretical risk of teratogenicity if the termination fails and the pregnancy continues although normal pregnancy outcomes have been reported. This could also apply to cervical priming if a termination is not proceeded with;
- there are no complications related to instrumentation (unless surgical intervention is required); and
- there are no anaesthetic complications unless anaesthesia is required to deal with a complication.

Second trimester

Comparative studies of medical and surgical methods for second trimester termination of pregnancy are very scarce; there are wide differences in practice, depending on practitioner experience and preference in one or other method.

A recent retrospective American study found that the overall complication rate was lower for the 139 women who underwent D&E than the 158 who had a medical abortion (all medical methods combined), principally because of higher rates of failed initial method and retained products of conception. 130 Medical abortions where misoprostol was the main method used were associated with fewer complications than were other medical methods and the rate of serious complications was low and similar in medically and surgically treated groups; there were some differences between the groups.

A planned randomised trial comparing mifepristone-misoprostol with D&E was abandoned as most women approached had a strong preference for D&E abortion. Among the 18 women treated prior to the abandonment of the study, the 9 who received medical treatment had more adverse events than did those randomised to D&E, including fever, retained products of conception and retained placenta.

Choosing a method

RCOG states that ideally abortion services should be able to offer a choice of recommended methods, 1 but it is acknowledged that local expertise and infrastructure may limit modalities offered. An audit of services in England and Wales found that only 33% of 194 units with facilities for abortion before 13 weeks provided both medical and surgical methods, with the majority of services offering surgical abortion only. 132 After 13 weeks gestation only 25% provided both medical and surgical abortion, with the majority providing medical procedures only. RCOG recognises that late in the second trimester, special expertise and particular staff attitudes are required for surgical abortion and considers that "for gynaecologists lacking the necessary expertise and caseload, and for their patients, mid-trimester medical abortion using mifepristone plus prostaglandin is appropriate".1

Studies reporting women's preferences suggest that a substantial proportion of women prefer medical methods when available and a substantial proportion prefer surgical methods. In different populations there may be different proportions with preference for medical or surgical methods. 121,123,126 Several studies have presented evidence that women value choice and are more likely to be satisfied with a method they choose. 35,125,133

Even when there is no choice or a method is chosen for them, most women are satisfied with the method used and would again choose this method or recommend it to a friend.^{37,134} There is evidence that in some populations, if no preference is expressed, surgical termination is likely to be more acceptable, particularly after 50 days gestation.¹³³ A selected group of 38 Australian women having a medical abortion reported a high level of satisfaction with the method, with those who had had a prior surgical abortion finding the medical approach more acceptable.¹³⁵

The following reasons were found for preferences for one or other method:^{83,85,}118,123,133,135-137

Those who prefer surgical methods:

- like the lower number of visits required (particularly if they live at a distance from the treatment centre)
- like the same day time course of the procedure
- may use general anaesthesia to be unaware of the procedure
- wish to avoid seeing the products of conception
- view medical methods as too slow, with more side effects related to drugs and psychologically worse

Those who prefer medical methods:

- like the low risk of requiring a surgical procedure and/or anaesthesia
- perceive the method as more like a "natural" miscarriage
- may wish to verify expulsion of conceptus
- feel it leaves them more in control
- feel they afford more privacy
- see surgery as more invasive, too fast and psychologically worse

The disadvantages of medical methods are seen as:

- the greater chance of failure
- the uncertain time frame
- the need for several visits
- the greater degree of blood loss and pain

There is very little information in the literature about women's experiences or views about recognising a fetus in the tissue passed. Most reports refer to the passage of a sac and/or bleeding and pain and this is not usually reported as a major concern for women who choose the method.

Women were likely to see their preferred method, whether medical or surgical, as less traumatic, less dangerous and involving less risk for future pregnancies.

Long-term risks associated with termination of pregnancy

Most of the information about longterm outcomes of pregnancy termination relates to suction curettage and/or unspecified procedures, the majority of which are likely to have been suction curettage. The pattern may change over time with the increasing uptake of medical abortion in many parts of the world. One small study compared outcomes of first trimester medical and surgical abortion after 2 years and found no differences.¹²⁵

Thorp et al recently reviewed long-term outcomes after abortion and noted the sparseness of data, the small size and flawed nature of many studies and the intertwining of conclusions with political agendas of authors and publishers.¹³⁸

Difficulties of ascertainment of abortion exposure due to recall or reporting bias and the difficulty of selecting appropriate comparison groups bedevil research in this area. Further, "effect sizes are small with risk ratios when present falling in the range of a doubling or less of risk for comparatively rare outcomes". 138

This summary draws on available reviews and has not attempted to reinterpret the data in view of the complexities and uncertainties which exist. Primary sources are included in the reviews cited.

Psychological effects

A literature review of the psychological consequences of termination of pregnancy examined a total of 72 studies and a further 27 review articles. The quality of the studies (including sample sizes, sample selection, validity of measures and other parameters) was found to vary considerably. Nevertheless, a number of consistent trends emerged:

- The overwhelming indication is that legal and voluntary termination of pregnancy rarely causes immediate or lasting negative psychological consequences in healthy women.
- The following factors seem to predict negative psychological outcomes: certain personality traits including impulsivity, attachment, low self esteem and dependency, late gestation abortion, prior psychiatric illness, and conflict with religious or cultural beliefs.
- Overall, the research seems to suggest that greater partner or parental support improves the psychological outcomes for the woman and that having an abortion results in few negative outcomes to the relationship.
- Comprehensive reviews of the adolescent-specific literature have concluded that the effects on younger women are mild and transitory and that other confounding factors may influence negative outcome.

- The decision to terminate a pregnancy due to medical or genetic reasons seems to have more of a negative impact often eliciting grief and depression amongst women.
- Some studies have reported positive outcomes such as relief.

Outcomes such as grief do occur and for some women there can be difficulty coping. There is a lack of comparative literature, but similar reactions occur following miscarriage and regrets are reported both after termination and continuing pregnancy. The studies suggest usually positive outcomes in the short term, and where negative outcomes occur these diminish over time.

The review of Thorp et al¹³⁸ presented ten studies which met their criteria. These studies reported some associations between abortion and subsequent mental health outcomes such as suicide, as well as an association between pre-existing depression and subsequent regret. The authors noted that these associations might indicate either common risk factors, such as depression, for abortion and suicide attempts or harmful effects of abortion on mental health.

The majority of the studies included in the Bonevski and Adams review¹³⁹ were empirical studies involving interviews or questionnaires, while several of the Thorp studies were record linkage studies, with more limited capacity to examine causality.

RCOG concludes that "some studies suggest that rates of psychiatric illness or self-harm are higher among women who have had an abortion compared with women who give birth and to non-pregnant women of similar age. It must be borne in mind that these findings do not imply a causal association and may reflect continuation of pre-existing conditions."

Reproductive outcomes

Future fertility

The evidence suggests that, overall, in countries where termination of pregnancy is available within the law, a woman who has an uncomplicated termination is not at increased risk of being infertile in the future. 1,138

Miscarriage

There is a possible small increase in the risk of subsequent miscarriage, which may be related to a short interval between termination and subsequent pregnancy: findings are inconsistent.^{1,138}

Ectopic pregnancy

Evidence does not support an association between pregnancy termination and subsequent ectopic pregnancy.^{1,138}

Pre-term birth

There is a possible increased risk of preterm birth for women who have had a prior termination, although studies continue to report mixed findings. Some suggest the risk increases with an increasing number of terminations and some that increased risk applies also or only to miscarriage.^{1,138}

Placenta praevia

RCOG considers that the evidence does not support a relationship between abortion and subsequent placenta praevia, although some studies have suggested a positive association.^{1,138}

Breast cancer

In recent years there has been epidemiological debate about a possible association between induced abortion and breast cancer. A number of studies have looked at the influence of induced or spontaneous abortion on breast cancer risk; however the quality of the studies varies, and results have been inconsistent. 1,138,140,141

A comprehensive analysis of data from 53 studies including 83,000 women with breast cancer concluded that "pregnancies that end as a spontaneous or induced abortion do not increase a women's risk of developing breast cancer" and that studies of breast cancer with retrospective recording of induced abortion yielded misleading results. 140 Data were analysed separately for spontaneous and induced abortion.

RCOG states that "induced abortion is not associated with an increase in breast cancer risk" and the American College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists that "rigorous recent studies argue against a causal relationship between induced abortion and a subsequent increase in breast cancer risk". 141

Outcomes of complicated procedures

Long term complications could be expected to be more frequent in women who have immediate or short term complications of termination procedures, but most follow up studies do not differentiate between complicated and uncomplicated procedures. A Danish study which examined this 142 found no differences in the rates of miscarriage or preterm birth, but a possibly higher stillbirth rate in those who had complications compared with those who did not.

Surgical trauma

There may be long term complications when there are acute surgical complications such as uterine perforation. Outcomes will depend on the nature of the trauma and treatment for example the exceptional case when open surgery is required to repair damage to uterus or bowel may result in pelvic infection and/or intra-abdominal adhesions, which may in turn lead to infertility.

Ascherman's syndrome is rare and unreported in most studies, a Canadian study reporting a rate of less than one per thousand.⁷⁰ It results from removal of the basal layer of the endometrium, causing scarring which may result in amenorrhoea, infertility or repeated early miscarriage.

Infection sequelae

In addition to immediate morbidity, pelvic inflammatory disease may lead to tubal infertility or ectopic pregnancy in the longer term. Women are at increased risk of symptomatic infection if they have *C. trachomatis*, *N. gonorrhoea* or bacterial vaginosis in the lower genital tract at the time of the termination, but prophylactic antibiotics do decrease the risk of clinical infection. 1,55,143 Surgical complications such as uterine perforation may also increase the risk of infection.

Conclusion

This resource document for health professionals summarises current medical evidence and reference material about methods of termination of pregnancy prior to 20 weeks gestation.

Varying infrastructure and legal frameworks mean that not all methods are available in all jurisdictions: practitioners need to inform themselves about local conditions.

This resource has not addressed the important issues around counselling and decision-making: education about these matters is essential for health professionals working in women's health.

Health professionals have an important role in prevention of unintended or unwanted pregnancy, through taking up opportunities for individual counselling and population health promotion about relationships, safe sex and contraceptive use.

Additional resources

The following resources may be of interest and assistance. Where website URL addresses are included, these were accessed in November 2005. Women seeking assistance should contact their general practitioner or local family planning organisation.

Guidelines

Detailed guidelines on termination of pregnancy are published by:

- RCOG¹
 http://www.rcog.org.uk/index.asp?PageID=662
- WHO¹⁰
 http://www.who.int/reproductive-health/
 publications/safe abortion/safe abortion.pdf
- New Zealand's Abortion Supervisory Committee¹¹

Local sources/resources

Abortion services in New Zealand (Istar): http://www.abortion.gen.nz/

New Zealand Ministry of Health consumer information: http://www.moh.govt.nz/moh.nsf/ 49ba80c00757b8804c256673001d47d0/da3e31ab1e3a5b594c256826000651bc?OpenDocument

- Western Australia Department of Health booklet for medical practitioners: http://www.health.wa.gov.au/publications/documents/abortion%20report%20final2.pdf
 - Its notification process is at: http://www.notifications.health.wa.gov.au/notifications/maternal/abortions.cfm
- New South Wales Department of Health policy directive: http://www.health.nsw.gov.au/policies/pd/2005/pdf/PD2005 587.pdf
- Victorian Department of Human Services consumer information: http://www.betterhealth.vic.gov.au/bhcv2/bhcarticles.nsf/pages/hc_reproductivesystem?OpenDocument
- Tasmanian Department of Health and Human services information is under review.
- Queensland Health consent forms for termination procedures: http://www.health.qld.gov.au/informedconsent/ConsentForms/obgyn/O&G_26.pdf http://www.health.qld.gov.au/informedconsent/ConsentForms/obgyn/O&G_27.pdf

Legal issues

Children By Choice provides a summary of current Australian legislative provisions relevant to abortion.

http://www.childrenbychoice.org.au/nwww/auslawprac.htm

A parliamentary research paper published in 1998 summarises the history of legislation in Australian jurisdictions, but is out of date in respect of several states (Natasha Cica: Abortion Law in Australia: Research Paper 1 1998-1999).

http://www.aph.gov.au/library/pubs/rp/1998-99/99rp01.htm

A book by Loane Skene entitled *Law and Medical Practice - Rights Duties Claims and Defences* includes consideration of relevant issues as well as broader medico-legal issues. (Published in February 2004 by Lexis Nexis Butterworths)

Policy and other issues

The RANZCOG has published statements on:

- Termination of pregnancy http://www.ranzcog.edu.au/publications/statements/C-Gyn17.pdf
- Mifepristone http://www.ranzcog.edu.au/publications/statements/C-gyn14.pdf
- Misoprostol http://www.ranzcog.edu.au/publications/statements/C-obs12.pdf

The Public Health Association of Australia produces a resource entitled Abortion in Australia: public health perspectives. http://www.phaa.net.au/abkit/PHAAAbortionkit.pdf

References

- Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists. The care of women requesting induced abortion. London; 2004. Report No. 7
- 2. National Health & Medical Research Council. An information paper on termination of pregnancy in Australia: National Health & Medical Research Council; 1996
- 3. Chan A, Scott J, Nguyen A, Sage L. Pregnancy Outcome in South Australia 2003. Adelaide: Pregnancy Outcome Unit, Department of Health; 2005.http://www. dh.sa.gov.au/pehs/PDF-files/POU-annual-report03.pdf
- 4. Straton J, Godman K, Gee V. Induced abortion in Western Australia 1999-2004. Report of the WA abortion notification system. Perth: Department of Health; 2005. http://www.health.wa.gov.au/publications/documents/abortion%20report%20final2.pdf
- 5. Chan A, Keane R. Prevalence of Induced Abortion in a Reproductive Lifetime.

 Amercian Journal of Epidemiology 2003;159(5):475-80
- Pratt A, Biggs A, Buckmaster L. How many abortions are there in Australia? A discussion of abortion statistics, their limitations, and options for improved statistical collection: Parliament of Australia; 2005 14 February 2005. Report No: Research brief no.9 2004-5.http://www.aph.gov.au/library/ pubs/rb/2004-05/05rb09.pdf
- 7. Chan A, Sage L. Estimating Australia's abortion rates 1985-2003. *Medical Journal of Australia* 2005;182(9):447-452
- Yusuf F, Siedlecky S. Legal abortion in South Australia: a review of the first 30 years. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology 2002;42(1):15-21
- Abortion Supervisory Committee. Report of the Abortion Supervisory Committee 2004. Wellington: Ministry of Justice

- 10. World Health Organization. Safe abortion: technical and policy guidance for health systems. Geneva: WHO; 2003.http://www.who.int/reproductive-health/publications/safe abortion/safe abortion.pdf
- 11. Shand C, Irvine H, Iyengar V. Guidelines for the use of mifepristone medical abortion in New Zealand: Abortion Supervisory Committee; 2004
- 12. McGalliard C, Gaudouin M. Routine ultrasound for pregnancy termination requests increases women's choice and reduces inappropriate treatments. BJOG: an International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology 2004;111:79-82
- Kulier R, Fekih A, Hofmeyer G, Campana A. Surgical methods for first trimester termination of pregnancy. The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2001(4):Art No CD002900. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD002900
- 14. Tang O, Ho P. Medical abortion in the second trimester. Best Practice and Research Clinical Obstetrics and Gynaecology 2002;16(2):237-246
- 15. Lichtenberg E. Complications of osmotic dilators. *Obstetrical and Gynecological Survey* 2004;59:528-536
- 16. Flett GMM, Templeton, A. Surgical abortion. Best Practice and Research Clinical Obstetrics and Gynaecology 2002;16(2):247-261
- 17. World Health Organization Task Force on Post-ovulatory Methods of Fertility Regulation. The use of mifepristone (RU486) for cervical preparation in first trimester pregnancy termination by vacuum aspiration. British Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology 1990;97:260-6
- Ngai S, Yeung K, Lao T, Ho P. Oral misoprostol versus mifepristone for cervical dilation before vacuum aspiration in first trimester nulliparous pregnancy: a double blind prospective randomised study. *British Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology* 1996 November;103:1120-3

- Henshaw R, Templeton A. Pre-operative cervical preparation before first trimester vacuum aspiration: a randomised controlled comparson between gemeprost and mifepristone (RU486). British Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology 1991;98:1025-30
- de Jonge E, Jewkes R, Levin J, Rees H. Randomised controlled trial of the efficacy of misoprostol used as a cervical ripening agent prior to termination of pregnancy in the first trimester. South African Medical Journal 2000;90(3):256-62
- World Health Organization Task Force on Prostaglandins for Fertility Regulation.
 Vaginal administration of 15-methyl-PGF2a methyl ester for preoperative certical dilatation. Contraception 1981;23:251-59
- 22. Grimes D, Schulz KF, Cates WJ. Prevention of uterine perforation during curettage abortion. *JAMA* 1984;251:2108-11
- Schulz K, Grimes D, Cates WJ. Measures to prevent cervical injury during suction curettage abortion. *Lancet* 1983;1983:1182-1184
- 24. Ashok PW, Hamoda H, Nathani F, Flett GMM, Templeton A. Randomised controlled study comparing oral and vaginal misoprostol for cervical priming prior to surgical termination of pregnancy. BJOG: an International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology 2003;110:1057-61
- Hamoda H, Ashok PW, Flett GMM, Templeton A. A randomized controlled comparison of sublingual and vaginal administration of misoprostol for cervical priming before first-trimester surgical abortion. American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology 2004;190:55-59
- 26. Fong YF, Singh K, Prasad RNV. A comparative study using two dose regimens (200 microgram or 400 microgram) of vaginal misoprostol for pre-operative cervical dilation in first trimester nulliparae. British Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology 1998;105:413-417

- 27. Keder L. Best practices in surgical abortion.

 American Journal of Obstetrics and

 Gynecology 2003;189(2):418-422
- 28. Garrioch D, Gilbert J, Plantevin O. Choice of ecbolic and the morbidity of day-case terminations of pregnancy. *British Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology* 1981;88:1029-1032
- 29. Ali P, Smith G. The effect of syntocinon on blood loss during first trimester suction curettage. *Anaesthesia* 1996;51:483-5
- 30. Paul M, Mitchell C, Rogers A, Fox M, Lackie E. Early surgical abortion: Efficacy and safety. American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology 2002;187(2):407-411
- 31. Kaunitz AM, Rovira, E.Z., Grimes, D.A., Schulz, K.F. Abortions that fail. *Obstetrics & Gynecology* 1985;66:533-537
- 32. Child TJ, Thomas, J., Rees, M., MacKenzie, I.Z. Morbidity of first trimester aspiration termination and the seniority of the surgeon. *Human Reproduction* 2001;16(5):875-878
- 33. Fielding W, Lee S-Y, Borten M, Friedman E. Continue pregnancy after failed first-trimester abortion. *Obstetrics & Gynecology* 1984;63:421-4
- 34. Cabezas E. Medical versus surgical abortion. *International Journal of Gynecology & Obstetrics* 1999;63 Suppl 1: S141-S146
- Ashok P, Kidd, A, Flett, GMM,
 Fitzmaurice, A, Graham, W, Templeton,
 A. A randomized comparison of medical
 abortion and surgical aspiration at 10-13
 weeks gestation. Human Reproduction
 2002;17(1):92-98
- 36. Davis A, Westhoff C, De Nonno L.
 Bleeding patterns after early abortion with
 mifepristone and misoprostol or manual
 vacuum aspiration. *JAMWA* 2000;55(3
 Suppl):141-4
- 37. Creinin MD. Randomized comparison of efficacy, acceptability and cost of medical versus surgical abortion. *Contraception* 2000;62:117-124

- 38. National Health & Medical Research Council. Report on Maternal Deaths in Australia 1994-96. Available at: http://www.nhmrc.gov.au/publications/_files/wh32.pdf (accessed October 2005)
- 39. National Health & Medical Research Council. *Report on Maternal Deaths in Australia 1991-93*. Available at: http://www.nhmrc.gov.au/publications/_files/wh25.pdf (accessed October 2005)
- 40. Slaytor E, Sullivan E, King J. Maternal deaths in Australia 1997-1999. Sydney:
 Australian Institute of Health and Welfare National Perinatal Statistics Unit; 2004.
 Report No: AIHW Catalogue No PER24
- 41. Sparrow M. A woman's choice. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology 2004;44:88-92
- 42. Grimes D, Cates WJ. Complications from legally-induced abortion: a review. Obstetrical and Gynecological Survey 1979;34(3):177-191
- 43. Lawson HW, Frye, A., Atrash, H.K., Smith, J.C., Shulman, H.B., Ramick, M. Abortion mortality, United States, 1972 through 1987. American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology 1994;171:1365-1372
- Herndon J, Strauss L, Whitehead S, Parker W, Bartlett L, Zane S. Abortion Surveillance United States, 1998 (abstract). Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report. Surveillance Summaries 2002;51(3):1-32
- Hakim-Elahi E, Tovell, H.M.M., Burnhill,
 M.S. Complications of first-trimester abortion: a report of 170,000 cases.
 Obstetrics & Gynecology 1990;76:129-135
- 46. Buehler J, Schulz K, Grimes D, Hogue. The risk of serious complications from induced abortion: do personal characteristics make a difference? *American Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology* 1985;153(1):14-19
- 47. Ferris LE, McMain-Klein M, Colodny N, Fellows GF, Lamont J. Factors associated with immediate abortion complications.

 Canadian Medical Association Journal 1996;154(11):1677-85

- 48. Hart G, Macharper T. Clinical aspects of induced abortion in South Australia from 1970-1984. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology 1986;26:219-224
- 49. Pridmore B, Chambers D. Uterine perforation during surgical abortion: a review of diagnosis, management and prevention. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology 1999 Aug;39(3):349-53
- 50. Zhou W, Nielsen, G.L., Moller, M., Olsen, J. Short-term complications after surgically induced abortions: a registerbased study of 56 117 abortions. *Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica* 2002;81:331-336
- Chen LH, Lai, S.F., Lee, W.H., Leong, N.K.Y. Uterine perforations during elective first trimester abortions: a 13-year review. Singapore Medical Journal 1995;36:63-67
- 52. Burnhill M, Armstead J. Reducing the morbidity of vacuum aspiration abortion. International Journal of Gynecology & Obstetrics 1978;16:204-209
- 53. Kaali S, Szigetvari I, Bartfai G. The frequency and management of uterine perforations during first-trimester abortions.

 American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology 1989;161:406-8
- 54. Wein P, Kloss M, Garland SM. Postabortal pelvic sepsis in association with chlamydia trachomatis. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology 1990;30(4):347-50
- Sawaya GF, Grady D, Kerlikowske K, Grimes DA. Antibiotics at the time of induced abortion: the case for universal prophylaxis based on a meta-analysis. Obstetrics & Gynecology 1996;87(5, Part 2):884-90
- 56. Penney GC. A randomised comparison of strategies for reducing infective complications of induced abortion [author's reply]. British Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology 1999;106:289

- Smith G, Stubblefield P, Chirchirillo L, McCarthy M. Pain of first trimester abortion: its quantification and relations with other variables. *Amercian Journal of Obstetrics* and Gynecology 1979;133:489-498
- Edelman A, Nichols MD, Jensen J.
 Comparison of pain and time of procedures with two first-trimester abortion techniques performed by residents and faculty. American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology 2001;184(7):1564-1567
- Clark S, Krishna U, Kallenbach L, Mandlekar A, Raote V, Ellertson C. Women's preferences for general or local anesthesia for pain during first trimester surgical abortion in India. *Contraception* 2002;66(4):275-279
- de Jonge ETM, Pattinson RC, Makin JD, Venter CP. Is ward evacuation for uncomplicated incomplete abortion under systemic analgesia safe and effective? South African Medical Journal 1994;84(8):481-483
- 61. Andolsek L, Cheng M, Hren M, Ogrinc-Oven M, Ng A, Ratnam S, et al. The safety of local anesthesia and outpatient treament: a controlled study of induced abortion by vacuum aspiration. *Studies in* Family Planning 1977;8(5):118-124
- Grimes D, Schulz KF, Cates WJ, CW T. Local versus general anaesthesia: which is safer for performing suction curettage abortions? American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology 1979;135:1030-1035
- 63. Mackay H, Schulz KF, Grimes D. Safety of local versus general anaesthesia for second-trimester dilatation and evacuation abortion. *Obstetrics and Gynecology* 1985;66:661-665
- 64. Osborn JF, Arisi, E., Spinelli, A., Stazi, M.A. General anaesthesia, a risk factor for complication following induced abortion? *European Journal of Epidemiology* 1990;6(4):416-422
- 65. Peterson H, Grimes D, Cates W, Rubin G. Comparative risk of death from induced

- abortion at <12 weeks' gestation performed with local versus general anaesthesia. American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology 1981;141(763-68)
- 66. Edwards J, Carson S.A. New technologies permit safe aboortion at less than six weeks' gestation and provide timely detection of ectopic gestation. American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology 1997;176:1101-1106
- 67. Dean G, Cardenas, L., Darney, P., Goldberg, A. Acceptability of manual versus electric aspiration for first trimester abortion: a randomized trial. *Contraception* 2003;67:201-206
- Goldberg A, Dean G, Kang M, S Y, Darney P. Manual versus electric vacuum aspiration for early first-trimester abortion: a controlled study of complication rates. Obstetrics & Gynecology 2004;103:101-107
- 69. Peterson W, Berry F, Grace M, Gulbranson C. Second-trimester abortion by dilatation and evacuation: ana analysis of 11,747 cases.

 Obstetrics & Gynecology 1983;62:185-190
- Jacot FRM, Poulin, C., Bilodeau, A.P., Morin, M., Moreau, S., Gendron, F., Mercier, D. A five-year experience with secondtrimester induced abortions: no increase in complication rate as compared to first trimester. American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology 1993;168:633-637
- 71. De Costa C. Medical abortion for Australian women: it's time. *Medical Journal of Australia* 2005;183:378-380
- Shand C, Rose S, Simmons A, Sparrow M. Introduction of early medical abortion in New Zealand: an audit of the first 67 cases. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology 2005;45:316-320
- 73. Baird D. Mode of action of medical methods of abortion. *JAMWA* 2000;55:121-126
- 74. Baird D. Medical abortion in the first trimester. Best Practice and Research Clinical Obstetrics and Gynaecology 2002;16(2):221-236

- 75. Creinin M. Medical abortion regimens: historical context and overview. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology* 2000;183(2 Suppl):S3-9
- 76. Newhall E, Winikoff B. Abortion with mifepristone and misoprostol: regimens, efficacy, acceptability and future directions. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology* 2000 Aug;183(2 Suppl):S44-53
- 77. Stewart P, Fletcher J, Sharma A. Medical termination of pregnancy in the late first trimester. Journal of Family Planning and Reproductive Health Care 2003;29:243-244
- 78. World Health Organisation Task
 Force on Post-ovulatory Methods of
 Fertility Regulation. Comparison of two
 doses of mifepristone in combination
 with misoprostol for early medical
 abortion: a randomised trial. British
 Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology
 2000;107(4):524-30
- Kulier R, Gülmezoglu A, Hofmeyr G, Cheng L, Campana A. Medical methods for first trimester abortion (review). The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2004(1):Art No:CD002855.pub3. DOI:10.1002/14651858.CD002855.pub3.
- 80. World Health Organization Task Force on Post-ovulatory Methods of Fertility Regulation. Lowering the dose of mifepristone and gemeprost for early abortion: a randomised controlled trial. British Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology 2001;108:738-742
- 81. Creinin MD, Pymar HC, Schwartz JL.
 Mifepristone 100mg in abortion regimens.
 Obstetrics & Gynecology 2001;98(3):434-9
- 82. Goldberg AB, Greenberg MB, Darney PD. Misoprostol and pregnancy. New England Journal of Medicine 2001;344(1):38-47
- 83. Hamoda H, Flett G. Medical termination of pregnancy in the early first trimester. *Journal of Family Planning and Reproductive Health Care* 2005;31:10-14
- 84. Hamoda H, Ashok P, Flett G, Templeton A. Medical abortion at 64-91 days of

- gestation: a review of 483 consecutive cases. American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology 2003;188:1315-1319
- 85. Bygdeman M, Danielsson K. Options for early therapeutic abortion: a comparative review. *Drugs* 2002;62:2459-2470
- 86. Ashok P, Templeton, A, Wagaarachchi, PT, Flett, GMM. Factors affecting the outcome of early medical abortion: a review of 4132 consecutive cases. BJOG: an International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology 2002;109:1281-1289
- 87. Christin-Maitre S, Bouchard P, Spitz IM. Medical termination of pregnancy. New England Journal of Medicine 2000;342(13):946-956
- 88. Hamoda H, Ashok PW, Flett GM,
 Templeton A. Analgesia requirements and
 predictors of analgesia use for women
 undergoing medical abortion up to 22
 weeks of gestation. BJOG: an International
 Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology
 2004;111:996-1000
- 89. Kruse B, Poppema S, Creinin M, Paul M. Management of side effects and complications in medical abortion. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology* 2000 Aug;183(2 Suppl):S65-75
- Anonymous. Clostridium sordellii toxic shock sundrome after medical abortion with mifepristone and intravaginal misoprostol

 United Sates and Canada, 2001-2005.
 Available at: http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/mm5429a3.htm (accessed October 2005)
- Schaff E, Fielding S, Westhoff C, Ellerston C, Eisinger S, Stadalius L, et al. Vaginal Misoprostol Administered 1, 2, or 3
 Days After Mifepristone for Early Medical Abortion: A Randomized Trial. *JAMA* 2000;284(5):1948
- 92. Shannon C, Brothers L, Philip N, Winikoff B. Infection after medical abortion: a review of the literature. *Contraception* 2004;70:183-90
- 93. Orioli I, Castilla E. Epidemiological assessment of misopdotol teratogenicity.

- British Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology 2000;107:519-523
- Philip N, Winikoff B, Moore K, Blumenthal P. A consensus regimen for early abortion with misoprostol. *International Journal of Gynecology & Obstetrics* 2004;87:281-283
- Kahn JG, Becker BJ, MacIsaa L, Amory JK, Neuhaus J, Ingram O, et al. The efficacy of medical abortion: A meta-analysis. Contraception 2000;61(1):29-40
- Wiebe E, Dunn S, Guilbert E, Jacot F, Lugtig L. Comparison of abortions induced by methotrexate or mifeprostone followed by misoprostol. *Obstetrics and Gynecology* 2002;99(5):813-819
- 97. Yedlinsky N, Morgan F, Whitecar P. Anomalies associated with failed methotrexate and misoprostol termination. *Obstetrics & Gynecology* 2005;105:1203-1205
- 98. Ashok P, Templeton A, Wagaarachchi P, Flett G. Midtrimester medical termination of pregnancy: a review of 1002 consecutive cases. *Contraception* 2004;69:51-58
- 99. Hamoda H, Ashok P, Flett G, Templeton A. A randomized trial of mifepristone in combination with misoprostol administered sublingually or vaginally for medical abortion at 13-20 weeks gestation. Human Reproduction 2005;20:2348-2354
- 100. Tang O, Lau W, Chan C, Ho P. A prospective randomised comparison of sublingual and vaginal misoprostol in second trimester termination of pregnancy. BJOG: an International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology 2004;111:1001-1005
- 101. Akoury H, Hannah M, Chitayat D, Thomas M, Winsor E, Ferris L. Randomised controlled trial of misoprostol for second trimester pregnancy termination associated with fetal malformation. American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology 2004;190:755-762
- 102. Dodd J, O'Brien L, Coffey J. Misoprostol for second and third trimester termination of pregnancy: a review of practice at

- the Women's and Children's Hospital, Adelaide, Australia. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology 2005;45:25-29
- 103. Wong KS, Ngai CSW, Yeo ELK, Tang LCH, Ho PC. A comparison of two regimens of intravaginal misoprostol for termination of second trimester pregnancy: a randomized comparative trial. *Human Reproduction* 2000;15(3):709-712
- 104. Jain J, Kuo J, Mishell DJ. A comparison of two dosing regimens of intravaginal misoprostol for second-trimester pregnancy termination. Obstetrics & Gynecology 1999;93(4):571-5
- 105. Dickinson J. The optimization of intravaginal misoprostol dosing schedules in second-trimester pregnancy termination. American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology 2002;186:470-474
- 106. Dickinson J, Evans S. A comparison of oral misoprostol with vaginal misoprostol administration in second-trimester pregnancy termination for fetal abnormality. Obstetrics & Gynecology 2003;101:1294-1299
- Dickinson J, Godfrey M, Evans S. Efficacy of intravaginal misoprostol in second-trimester pregnancy termination: a randomized controlled trial. *The Journal of Maternal-Fetal Medicine* 1998;7:115-9
- 108. Tang O, Thong K, Baird D. Second trimester medical abortion with mifepristone and gemeprost: a review of 956 cases. *Contraception* 2001;64:29-32
- 109. Ngai S, Tang O, Ho P. Randomized comparison of vaginal (200ug every 3h) and oral (400ug every 3h) misoprostol when combined with mifepristone in termination of second trimester pregnancy. *Human Reproduction* 2000;15(10):2205-2208
- 110. Bartley J, Baird D. A randomised study of misoprostol and gemeprost in combination with mifepristone for induction of abortion in the second trimester of pregnancy. BJOG: an International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology 2002;109(11):1290-4

- 111. Dickinson J. Late pregnancy termination within a legislated medical environment. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology 2004;44:337-341
- 112. Phillips K, Berry C, Mathers A. Uterine rupture during second trimester termination of pregnancy using mifepristone and a prostaglandin. European Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology and Reproductive Biology 1996;65:175-6
- 113. Norman J. Uterine rupture during therapeutic abortion in the second trimester using mifepristone and prostaglandin. *British Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology* 1995;102:332-3
- 114. Wiener J, AS E. Uterine rupture in midtrimester abortion. A complication of gemeprost vaginal pessaries and ocytocin. *British Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology* 1990;97:1061-2
- 115. Bradshaw H, Stewart P. Failed medical termination of pregnancy associated with implantation in a non-communicating uterine horn. Journal of Family Planning and Reproductive Health Care 2004;30:178
- 116. Say L, Kulier R, Gülmezoglu M, Campana A. Medical versus surgical methods for first trimester termination of pregnancy. The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2002(4):Art No CD003037.pub2. DOI 10.1002/14651858.CD003037. pub2. Art. No.: CD003037.pub2. DOI 10.1002/14651858.CD003037.pub2.
- 117. Jensen JT, Astley SJ, Morgan E, Nichols MD. Outcomes of suction curettage and mifepristone abortion in the United States. Contraception 1999;59:153-159
- 118. Holmgren K. Women's evaluation of three early abortion methods. *Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica* 1992;71:616-23
- 119. Henshaw RC, Naji SA, Russell IT, Templeton AA. A comparison of medical abortion (using mifepristone and gemeprost) with surgical vacuum aspiration: efficacy and early medical sequelae. *Human Reproduction* 1994;1994(9):11.2167-2172

- 120. Slade P, Heke, S., Fletcher, J., Stewart, P. A comparison of medical and surgical termination of pregnancy: choice, emotional impact and satisfaction with care. British Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology 1998;105:1288-1295
- 121. Winikoff B, Sivin I, Coyaji K, Cabezas E, Bilian X, Sujuan G, et al. Safety, efficacy and acceptability of medical abortion in China, Cuba and India: a comparative trial of mifepristone-misoprostol versus surgical abortion. American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology 1997;176:431-7
- 122. Rorbye C, Norgaard M, Nilas L. Medical versus surgical abortion efficacy, complications and leave of absence compared in a partly randomized study. *Contraception* 2004;70:393-399
- 123. Cameron S, Glasier A, Logan J, Benton L, Baird D. Impact of the introduction of new medical methods on therapeutic abortions at the Royal Infirmary of Edinburgh. *British Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology* 1996;103:1222-29
- 124. Elul B, Ellertson C, Winikoff B, Coyaji K. Side effects of mifepristone-misoprostol abortion versus surgical abortion.

 Contraception 1999;59:107-114
- 125. Howie FL, Henshaw RC, Naji SA, Russell IT, Templeton AA. Medical abortion or vacuum aspiration? Two year follow up of a patient preference trial. *British Journal of Obstetrics* and Gynaecology 1997;104(7):829-833
- 126. Urquhart DR, Templeton AA. Psychiatric morbidity and acceptability following medical and surgical methods of induced abortion. British Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology 1991;98:396-99
- 127. Westhoff C, Picardo, L., Morrow, E. Quality of life following early medical or surgical abortion. *Contraception* 2003;67:41-47
- 128. Henshaw R, Naji S, Russell I, Templeton A. Psychological responses following medical abortion (using mifespristone and gemeprost) and surgical vacuum aspiration. A patient-centered, partially

- randomised prospective study. *Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica*1994;73(10):812-818
- 129. Ashok P, Hamoda H, Flett G, Kidd A, Fitzmaurice A, Templeton A. Psychological sequelae of medical and surgical abortion at 10-13 weeks gestation. Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica. 2005;84(8):761-766
- 130. Autry A, Hayes E, Jacobson G, Kirby R. A comparison of medical induction and dilation and evacuation for second-trimester abortion. American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology 2002;187(2):393-397
- 131. Grimes D, Smith S, Witham A. Mifepristone and misoprostol versus dilation and evacuation for midtrimester abortion: a pilot ransomixed controlled trial. *British Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology* 2004;111:148-53
- 132. Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists. *National audit of induced abortion 2000*. London: RCOG; 2001
- 133. Henshaw RC, Naji SA, Russell IT, Templeton AA. Comparison of medical abortion with surgical vacuum aspiration: women's preferences and acceptability of treatment. *British Medical Journal* 1993;307(September 18):714-717
- 134. Jensen J, Harvey S, Beckman L. Acceptability of suction curettage and mifepristone abortion in the United States: a prospective comparison study. American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology 2000 Jun;182(6):1292-9
- 135. Mamers PM, Lavelle AL, Evans AJ, Bell SM, Rusden JR, Healy DL. Women's satisfaction with medical abortion with RU486. Medical Journal of Australia 1997;167:316-17
- 136. Bachelot A, Cludy L, Spira A. Conditions for choosing between drug-induced and surgical abortions. *Contraception* 1992;45:547-59

- 137. Rademakers J, Koster A, Jansen-van Hees A, Willems F. Medical abortion as an alternative to vacuum aspiration: first experiences with the "abortion pill" in the Netherlands. European Journal of Contraception and Reproductive Health Care 2001;6:185-191
- 138. Thorp J, Hartmann K, Shadigian E. Longterm physical and psychological health consequences of induced abortion: review of the evidence. *Obstetrical and Gynecological Survey* 2002;58:67-79
- 139. Bonevski B. *Psychological aspects of termination of pregnancy: a literature review.* Newcastle: Newcastle Institute of Public Health; 2000
- 140. Beral V, Bull D, Doll R, Peto R, Reeves G. Breast cancer and abortion: collaborative reanalysis of data from 53 epidemiological studies, including 83000 women with breast cancer from 16 countries. *Lancet* 2004;363:1007-16
- 141. American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists Committee on Gynecologic Practice. ACOG Committee Opinion: induced abortion and breast cancer risk. International Journal of Gynecology & Obstetrics 2003;83(2):233-235
- 142. Zhou W, Olsen J. Are complications after an induced abortion associated with reproductive failures in a subsequent pregnancy? Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica 2003;82:177-181
- 143. Sorensen JL, Thranov, I., Hoff, G., Driach, J. Early- and late-onset pelvic inflammatory disease among women with servical Chlamydia trachomatis infection at the time of induced abortion a follow-up study. *Infection* 1994;22(4):242-246

Acknowledgments

This is a RANZCOG publication, which has been edited by Dr Chris Bayly MD BS MPH FRANZCOG FRCOG and Dr Julia Shelley MPH PhD. Its preparation has been overseen by the Women's Health Committee of RANZCOG, with the assistance of a working party comprising Fellows of RANZCOG and external participants with family planning, sexual health, public health and epidemiological expertise.

The contributions of all members of the working party and Women's Health Committee were valuable in the development and content of this paper. The contributions of Ms Rebecca Bentley, BBSc (Hons), Professor Gab Kovacs AM MBBS MD FRCOG FRACOG CREI, Dr Margaret Sparrow DCNZM MBE FAChSHM HonDSc FRANZCOG (Hon) and Dr Edith Weisberg, AM MBBS MM FRANZCOG ad eundem are acknowledged with appreciation.

